

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA  
ALEXANDRIA DIVISION

---

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )  
STATE OF COLORADO, )  
STATE OF MARYLAND, )  
STATE OF NEVADA, and )  
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, )  
)  
) Civil Action No. \_\_\_\_\_  
Plaintiffs, )  
)  
vs. )  
)  
KB HOME, )  
)  
Defendant. )

---

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, the United States of America, by authority of the Attorney General of the United States, at the request of the Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), by and through their undersigned attorneys, with respect to claims under federal law; and Plaintiffs, the State of Colorado, by the authority of the Colorado Attorney General’s Office, at the request of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment; the State of Maryland by the authority of the Attorney General of Maryland, at the request of the Maryland Department of the Environment; the State of Nevada by the authority of the Attorney General of Nevada, at the request of the Department of Conservation and Natural Resources through Nevada Division of Environmental Protection; and the Commonwealth of Virginia at the request of the Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation and by approval of the Governor of Virginia,

(hereinafter, “State Plaintiffs”) by and through their undersigned attorneys, with respect to their state law claims, allege as follows:

### INTRODUCTION

1. This is a civil action for injunctive relief and civil penalties brought pursuant to Section 309(b) and (d) of the Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b) and (d), against KB Home for the discharge of pollutants in storm water without a permit in violation of CWA Section 301, 33 U.S.C. § 1311; for failure to provide information to the Administrator in violation of CWA Section 308, 33 U.S.C. § 1318; and for failure to comply with the conditions of permits (including various state general permits) issued pursuant to CWA Section 402, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, for the discharge of pollutants in storm water from construction sites, in violation of CWA Section 301, 33 U.S.C. § 1311. This action also is brought pursuant to the Colorado Water Quality Control Act (“CWQCA”), §§ 25-8-607 and -608, C.R.S.; Sections 9-339 and 9-342 of the Environment Article, Annotated Code of Maryland; Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 445A.695 and 445A.700; and the Virginia Stormwater Management Act, Va. Code Ann. §§ 10.1-603.1 to -603.15, against KB Home for similar violations of State Plaintiffs’ state laws (hereinafter referred to as State Plaintiffs’ “analogous state laws”).

### JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345 and 1355 and 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b). This Court has jurisdiction over the State Plaintiffs’ claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 (supplemental jurisdiction).

3. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1395, because KB Home conducts business in this District, and because certain of

the violations occurred in this District.

4. Notice of the commencement of this action has been given to the States of Arizona, California, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Louisiana, Maryland, Nevada, New Mexico, North Carolina, South Carolina, Texas, and Wisconsin, and the Commonwealth of Virginia in accordance with 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b).

#### DEFENDANT

5. KB Home is a corporation organized under the laws of Delaware and is a “person” as defined in CWA Section 502, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5), 40 C.F.R. § 122.2.

6. KB Home is a corporation doing business in 15 states, including this District. KB Home’s principal place of business is in Los Angeles, California. Hereinafter, the term “KB Home” includes subsidiaries wholly owned by KB Home.

7. KB Home has constructed and/or is currently constructing residential homes on various pieces of property owned and/or operated by KB Home throughout the United States, including this District. KB Home constructs thousands of new homes each year.

#### STATUTORY AND REGULATORY AUTHORITY

8. The Clean Water Act is designed to restore and maintain the chemical, physical and biological integrity of the nation's waters. 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).

9. To accomplish the objectives of the Act, CWA Section 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the “discharge of any pollutant” by any person except in certain circumstances, including in compliance with a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit issued by EPA pursuant to CWA Section 402, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.

10. CWA Section 502(12), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12), defines the term “discharge of a pollutant” as, inter alia, “any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.”

11. CWA Section 402(p), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p), requires a permit for storm water discharges associated with industrial activity.

12. EPA regulations define the term “storm water discharge associated with industrial activity” to include storm water discharges from construction activities, including clearing, grading, and excavation activities, that result in a disturbance of five or more acres of total land area. 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(x). Construction activity also includes the disturbance of less than five acres of total land area that is part of a larger common plan of development or sale if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb equal to or greater than five acres. Id.

13. EPA regulations also define the term “storm water discharge associated with small construction activity” to include storm water discharges from construction activities, including clearing, grading, and excavation activities, that result in a disturbance of equal to or greater than one acre and less than five acres. 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(15)(i). Construction activity also includes the disturbance of less than one acre of total land area that is part of a larger common plan of development or sale if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb equal to or greater than one acre. Id.

14. State Plaintiffs’ analogous state laws require a permit for discharges of storm water associated with construction activities to state waters.

15. In 1992, EPA issued a Final NPDES General Permit for Storm Water Discharges from Construction Activities. 57 Fed. Reg. 41176, 41209 (Sept. 9, 1992). EPA has, on various occasions, subsequently modified and reissued this general permit. See 63 Fed. Reg. 7858-7906

(Feb. 17, 1998); 63 Fed. Reg. 36490-36519 (July 6, 1998); 65 Fed. Reg. 25122-25145 (Apr. 28, 2000); 68 Fed. Reg. 39087-39091 (July 1, 2003).

16. Pursuant to the CWA Section 402(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b), states may issue their own storm water permits for discharges into navigable waters within their jurisdiction if they are authorized by EPA to do so. Most states, including State Plaintiffs, are so authorized and have issued their own NPDES general permits governing discharges of storm water associated with construction activities. See Colorado General Permit for Storm Water Discharges Associated with Construction Activity No. COR - 030000; Maryland State Discharge Permit Number 09GP, General NPDES Permit Number MDR10; Nevada Stormwater General Permit NVR100000; Virginia General Permit for Discharges of Stormwater from Construction Activities, General Permit No. DCR01. For states that have not been authorized, EPA remains the permitting authority for purposes of the CWA, and the federal general permit applies. The United States may enforce the state-issued NPDES permit under the CWA, and State Plaintiffs may enforce their state-issued permits pursuant to their analogous state laws. The federal or state NPDES general permit for storm water discharges associated with construction activities that applies in a state is hereinafter referred to as the “Applicable Permit.”

17. Section 308 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1318, requires owners and operators of point sources to submit information to the EPA Administrator as needed to carry out the objectives of the Clean Water Act, including the NPDES permit program of CWA Section 402, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.

18. Under EPA’s regulations, persons who discharge or who propose to discharge “storm water associated with industrial activity” are required to apply for an individual permit or

seek coverage under a promulgated storm water general permit. 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.21(a) & (c), 122.26(c), 122.28. In applying for coverage under a storm water individual or general permit, a potential permittee must provide the necessary information on the basis of which EPA (or the state permitting agency) may evaluate the appropriateness of the issuance of and the terms of any such permit.

19. Under 40 C.F.R. § 122.21(c), a discharger proposing a new discharge of storm water associated with construction activity covered by 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(x) and (15)(i) must submit an application 90 days before the date construction is to commence, or by the deadlines provided by the terms of any applicable general permit. See 40 C.F.R. § 122.28(b)(2).

20. State Plaintiffs' analogous state laws require persons proposing to discharge storm water associated with construction activity to submit information to the State as needed to carry out the objectives of State Plaintiffs' analogous state laws.

21. Though they differ in some of the details, in general, under the general permits, any person subject to the permit is required to develop a storm water pollution prevention plan ("SWPPP"), which sets forth a plan to control and reduce pollutants in storm water discharges from construction activities. Federal CGP, Parts 3.1.B.2 and 3.4.A. The SWPPP must meet specific requirements and include certain information. Federal CGP, Part 3.

22. A central requirement of the SWPPP is the selection of best management practices ("BMPs"). BMPs are management practices implemented "to prevent or reduce the discharge of pollutants to waters of the United States." Federal CGP, Appendix A. These practices include measures to prevent erosion (such as the scheduling of the project to minimize the amount of land

that is being graded at any particular time) and measures to capture sediment before it leaves the site (such as silt fences and sedimentation basins).

23. The permits also require the permittee to implement the SWPPP and to properly operate and maintain the BMPs. Federal CGP, Parts 3.1.D and 3.6.A.

24. The permits impose additional requirements, including, inter alia: inspection of the site during construction, Federal CGP, Part 3.10; maintenance of the SWPPP and sometimes other records at the site, Federal CGP, Part 3.12; and final stabilization of the site followed by termination of permit coverage, Federal CGP, Part 5.1.A.

25. CWA Section 309(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), authorizes the Administrator of EPA “to commence a civil action for appropriate relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction,” when any person is in violation of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 1318, or of any permit issued pursuant to CWA Section 402, 33 U.S.C. § 1342. State Plaintiffs are authorized to seek injunctive relief for such violations pursuant to their analogous state laws. CWQCA § 25-8-607, C.R.S.; §§ 4-116, 4-416, and 9-339 of the Environment Article, Annotated Code of Maryland; Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 445A.465, 445A.695 and 445A.700; and Virginia Stormwater Management Act, Va. Code Ann. § 10.1-603.12:4.

26. CWA Section 309(d), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), provides, in part, that any person who violates 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 1318, or any permit issued pursuant to CWA Section 402, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, shall be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed \$27,500 per day for each such violation occurring after January 29, 1997 through and including March 15, 2004, and \$32,500 per day for each such violation thereafter. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d); 40 C.F.R. § 19.4; 62 Fed. Reg. 7121-01 (Feb. 13, 2004) (codified at 40 C.F.R. pt. 19). State Plaintiffs are authorized to seek civil penalties for

such violations pursuant to their analogous state laws. CWQCA § 25-8-608(1), C.R.S.; §§ 4-116, 4-417 and 9-342 of the Environment Article, Annotated Code of Maryland; Nev. Rev. Stat. § 445A.700; and Virginia Stormwater Management Act, Va. Code Ann. § 10.1-603.14.

#### GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

27. Based on inspections conducted at 21 KB Home construction sites in 6 states between 2002 and 2005, EPA discovered a pattern of failures by KB Home to timely obtain coverage under Applicable Permits prior to site disturbing activities that could or did result in discharges of pollutants, and a pattern of failures to comply with the requirements of Applicable Permits for the discharge of storm water from these construction sites. These sites are included in the list of sites attached as Appendix A. Additional information was obtained, including from KB Home's responses to information requests issued by EPA pursuant to CWA Section 308, 33 U.S.C. § 1318, which provided evidence of additional violations at KB Home sites that are also included in Appendix A. Appendix A also includes sites at which KB Home was engaged in construction activities as of March 31, 2008. Based on the inspections, responses to information requests and other information, the United States alleges (and State Plaintiffs allege with respect to sites in their states) that KB Home has a pattern of failures to timely obtain coverage under Applicable Permits prior to site disturbing activities that could or did result in discharges of pollutants, and a pattern of failures to comply with the requirements of Applicable Permits for the discharge of storm water from the KB Home construction sites listed in Appendix A.

28. At each of the sites listed on Appendix A, KB Home engaged in construction activities that resulted in the disturbance of at least one acre.



29. KB Home's sites in Appendix A, themselves, as well as the storm sewers, ditches, or other conveyances referenced in Paragraph 30 below, constitute "point source[s]" within the meaning of CWA Section 502(14), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14).

30. KB Home's construction activities resulted in the addition of "pollutants," including rock, sand, cellar dirt, industrial waste, solid waste, and other pollutants, to storm sewers, ditches, or other conveyances that discharge to streams, creeks, and other water bodies that are "waters of the United States," within the meaning of CWA Section 502(6) and (7), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6), (7), and 40 C.F.R. § 122.2, and also resulted in the discharge of pollutants to state waters under State Plaintiffs' analogous state laws.

31. KB Home has discharged pollutants within the meanings of Sections 301 and 502(12) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311 and 1362(12), and 40 C.F.R. § 122.2, without permit authorization.

32. KB Home is a person that proposed to discharge or who otherwise was required to timely apply for coverage under an Applicable Permit, pursuant to CWA Sections 308 and 402(p), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1318 and 1342(p), 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.21(a), (c), 122.26(c), and 122.28, and State Plaintiffs' analogous state laws.

33. KB Home failed to timely submit the information required to apply for or obtain coverage under the Applicable Permit, including but not limited to, at the following sites: Vista Manzano in Albuquerque, NM; Parkside Estates in Watauga, TX; Idaho Creek in Longmont, CO; Grandview in Erie, CO; and Marina Cove in Alameda, CA.

34. At sites for which KB Home did obtain permit coverage, KB Home violated the Applicable Permit, including but not limited to, at the following sites: Avalon Park in Orlando,

FL; Ridgefield in Durham, NC; Provincetowne in Fort Collins, CO; Mystic Park in San Antonio, TX; and Hasley Hills in Castaic, CA. Violations of storm water requirements at these and other sites include, but are not necessarily limited to: failure to install and maintain storm water controls (such as vehicle track out pads, inlet protection, silt fencing to minimize off-site sediment and erosion runoff); failure to properly design or implement BMPs; failure to prepare an adequate SWPPP; failure to conduct inspections; and failure to conduct inspections in accordance with the Applicable Permit requirements.

#### FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

#### KB HOME DISCHARGED POLLUTANTS IN STORM WATER WITHOUT AN APPLICABLE PERMIT

35. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1 through 34.

36. KB Home discharged pollutants in storm water to waters of the United States without coverage under an Applicable Permit in violation of CWA Section 301, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, and discharged pollutants in storm water to waters of one or more of the State Plaintiffs in violation of analogous state laws.

37. Unless enjoined, these violations will continue or will recur at other construction sites.

38. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319, KB Home is liable for injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to \$27,500 per day for each such violation occurring after January 29, 1997 through and including March 15, 2004 and \$32,500 per day for each such violation thereafter per day per violation.

39. Pursuant to State Plaintiffs' analogous state laws, KB Home is liable to each State Plaintiff for injunctive relief and civil penalties for each violation that occurred at a site in its state that is listed on Appendix A. CWQCA §§ 25-8-607 and -608, C.R.S.; §§ 4-116, 4-416, 4-417, 9-339, and 9-342 of the Environment Article, Annotated Code of Maryland; Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 445A.695 and 445A.700; Virginia Stormwater Management Act, Va. Code Ann. §§ 10.1-603.12:4 and -603.14.

### SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

#### KB HOME FAILED TO TIMELY SUBMIT THE INFORMATION REQUIRED TO OBTAIN COVERAGE UNDER AN APPLICABLE PERMIT

40. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1 through 34.

41. KB Home failed to timely submit the information required to obtain coverage under an Applicable Permit for the discharge of storm water associated with its construction activities in violation of CWA Section 308, 33 U.S.C. § 1318, and failed to timely submit the information required to obtain coverage under an Applicable Permit for the discharge of storm water pursuant to one or more State Plaintiffs' analogous state laws.

42. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319, KB Home is liable for injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to \$27,500 per day for each such violation occurring after January 29, 1997 through and including March 15, 2004 and \$32,500 per day for each such violation thereafter per day per violation.

43. Pursuant to State Plaintiffs' analogous state laws, KB Home is liable to each State Plaintiff for injunctive relief and civil penalties for each violation that occurred at a site in its state that is listed on Appendix A. CWQCA §§ 25-8-607 and -608, C.R.S.; §§ 4-116, 4-416, 4-417, 9-

339, and 9-342 of the Environment Article, Annotated Code of Maryland; Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 445A.695 and 445A.700; Virginia Stormwater Management Act, Va. Code Ann. §§ 10.1-603.12:4 and -603.14.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

KB HOME VIOLATED THE  
REQUIREMENTS OF THE APPLICABLE PERMITS

44. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1 through 34.

45. KB Home failed to comply with the terms and conditions of the Applicable Permits, in violation of CWA Section 301, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, and one or more State Plaintiffs' analogous state laws.

46. Unless enjoined, these violations will continue or will recur at other construction sites.

47. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319, KB Home is liable for injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to \$27,500 per day for each such violation occurring after January 29, 1997 through and including March 15, 2004 and \$32,500 per day for each such violation thereafter per day per violation.

48. Pursuant to State Plaintiffs' analogous state laws, KB Home is liable to each State Plaintiff for injunctive relief and civil penalties for each violation that occurred at a site in its state that is listed on Appendix A. CWQCA §§ 25-8-607 and -608, C.R.S.; §§ 4-116, 4-416, 4-417, 9-339, and 9-342 of the Environment Article, Annotated Code of Maryland; Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 445A.695 and 445A.700; Virginia Stormwater Management Act, Va. Code Ann. §§ 10.1-603.12:4 and -603.14.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States of America and the State Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court:

- A. Order KB Home to comply with the terms of the Act and the conditions of Applicable Permits at its construction sites by requiring, among other things, the development and implementation of appropriate storm water pollution prevention plans, the application of BMPs to minimize or eliminate discharges of pollutants from its sites, and the implementation of corporate policies designed to achieve and assure compliance with the Applicable Permits and the Act;
- B. Assess civil penalties against KB Home of up to \$27,500 per day for each violation occurring after January 29, 1997 through and including March 15, 2004 and \$32,500 per day for each violation thereafter per day for each violation;
- C. Award the United States its costs and disbursements in this action; and
- D. Grant any such further relief as this Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:

---

RONALD J. TENPAS  
Counsel for the United States  
Assistant Attorney General  
Environment and Natural Resources Division  
United States Department of Justice  
950 Pennsylvania Ave., NW  
Room 2603  
Washington, DC 20530  
202-514-2701  
202-514-0557 (fax)  
Ronald.Tenpas@usdoj.gov

FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (Cont.):

---

JAMES D. FREEMAN  
CHRISTY KING-GILMORE  
Counsel for the United States  
Trial Attorneys  
Environmental Enforcement Section  
United States Department of Justice  
1961 Stout Street  
8<sup>th</sup> Floor  
Denver, CO 80294  
303-844-1489  
303-844-1350 (fax)  
James.Freeman2@usdoj.gov

CHUCK ROSENBERG  
United States Attorney

By \_\_\_\_\_  
GERARD MENE  
Counsel for the United States  
Assistant U.S. Attorney  
2100 Jamieson Avenue  
Alexandria, Virginia 22314  
703-299-3777  
703-299-3983 (fax)  
Gerard.Mene@usdoj.gov

OF COUNSEL:

EVERETT E. VOLK  
Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance  
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency  
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW  
MC 2243A Room 3120A  
Washington, DC 20460  
202-564-2828  
202-564-0018 (fax)  
volk.everett@epa.gov

WENDY I. SILVER  
Senior Attorney  
U.S. EPA Region 8  
1595 Wynkoop Street  
Denver, CO 80202-1129  
303-312-6637  
silver.wendy@epa.gov

LAURIE KERMISH  
Senior Attorney  
Office of Regional Counsel (ORC-2)  
U.S. EPA Region 9  
75 Hawthorne Street  
San Francisco, CA 94105  
415-972-3917  
415-974-3570 (fax)  
kermish.laurie@epa.gov

FOR THE STATE OF COLORADO:

JOHN W. SUTHERS  
Attorney General of Colorado

---

WILLIAM C. ALLISON, V  
Counsel for the State of Colorado  
First Assistant Attorney General  
Environmental Quality Unit  
Natural Resources and Environment Section  
Colorado Office of the Attorney General  
1525 Sherman Street, 5th Floor  
Denver, CO 80203  
303-866-4500  
303-866-3558 (fax)  
william.allison@state.co.us



FOR THE STATE OF MARYLAND:

DOUGLAS F. GANSLER  
Attorney General of Maryland

---

JENNIFER L. WAZENSKI  
Counsel for the State of Maryland  
Assistant Attorney General  
Office of the Attorney General  
Maryland Department of the Environment  
1800 Washington Boulevard, Suite 6048  
Baltimore, MD 21230  
410-537-3058  
410-537-3943 (fax)  
jwazenski@mde.state.md.us

FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA:

CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO  
Attorney General of Nevada

---

JANET HESS  
Counsel for the State of Nevada  
Deputy Attorney General  
State of Nevada  
100 N. Carson St.  
Carson City, NV 89701  
775-684-1270  
775-684-1108 (fax)  
jhess@ag.nv.gov

FOR THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA:

ROBERT F. McDONNELL  
Attorney General  
Commonwealth of Virginia

---

ELIZABETH A. ANDREWS  
Counsel for the Commonwealth of Virginia  
Assistant Attorney General  
900 E. Main Street  
Richmond, VA 23219  
804-786-6957  
804-786-0034 (fax)  
eandrews@oag.state.va.us

## **Appendix A**

State	City or County	Site	Division
Arizona	Gilbert	Cameron Ranch	Phoenix
Arizona	Gilbert	Copper Ranch	Phoenix
Arizona	Gilbert	Villas at Spectrum	Phoenix
Arizona	Glendale	Tarrington Place	Phoenix
Arizona	Goodyear	Canyon Trails	Phoenix
Arizona	Goodyear	Sin Lomas	Phoenix
Arizona	Marana	Saguaro Springs	Tucson
Arizona	Maricopa	Smith Farms	Phoenix
Arizona	Mesa	Muirfield Village	Phoenix
Arizona	Oro Valley	Rancho Vistoso	Tucson
Arizona	Phoenix	Avalon Village	Phoenix
Arizona	Phoenix	Camelback Ranch	Phoenix
Arizona	Phoenix	Daravante	Phoenix
Arizona	Phoenix	Hunter Ridge	Phoenix
Arizona	Phoenix	Summit at South Mountain	Phoenix
Arizona	Phoenix	Weston Park I	Phoenix
Arizona	Pima County	Desert Meadows	Tucson
Arizona	Pima County	Mariposa Trail	Tucson
Arizona	Pima County	Rancho Valencia	Tucson
Arizona	Pima County	San Lorenzo	Tucson
Arizona	Pima County	Santa Rita Ranch II	Tucson
Arizona	Pima County	Sonoran Ranch Estates II	Tucson
Arizona	Queen Creek	Indigo Trails	Phoenix
Arizona	Queen Creek	Rittenhouse Ranch	Phoenix
Arizona	Queen Creek	Villages at Queen Creek	Phoenix
Arizona	Sahuarita	Presidio del Cielo	Tucson
Arizona	Sahuarita	Santo Tomas	Tucson
Arizona	Surprise	Bell Point	Phoenix
Arizona	Surprise	Cortana	Phoenix
Arizona	Surprise	Desert Oasis	Phoenix
Arizona	Surprise	Sycamore Farms	Phoenix
Arizona	Tucson	Arroyo Vista	Tucson
Arizona	Tucson	Pantano Overlook	Tucson
Arizona	Tucson	Pantano Ridge	Tucson
Arizona	Tucson	Terra Vista	Tucson
Arizona	Tucson	The Sanctuary at Tucson Mountain	Tucson
California	Alameda	Marina Cove	Southbay
California	Anaheim	Magnolia	Orange County
California	Antioch	Del Vina	Southbay
California	Antioch	Renaissance at Bluerock	Southbay
California	Antioch	Stanford Place II	Southbay
California	Atwater	Seitsema	Central Valley
California	Bakersfield	Harvest Moon	Southbay
California	Bakersfield	Meadowbrook	Southbay
California	Bakersfield	Olympia	Southbay
California	Beaumont	California Vista	Riverside
California	Beaumont	Seneca Springs I & II	Riverside
California	Beaumont	Sundance	Riverside
California	Campo	Campo Hills	San Diego
California	Carlsbad	Avellino	San Diego
California	Carlsbad	Dolcetto	San Diego
California	Castaic	Hasley Hills II	North LA
California	Chino Hills	Evergreen at The Preserve	Inland Valley
California	Chula Vista	Capria	San Diego
California	Coachella	Aventine	Riverside
California	Coachella	Somerset	Riverside
California	Corona	Canyon Oaks - I & II	Inland Valley
California	Corona	Cloverdale III Harvest	Inland Valley
California	Corona	Sienna Ridge	Orange County
California	Corona	Weathervane	Inland Valley
California	Cucamonga	Cambridge	Inland Valley

State	City or County	Site	Division
California	Danville	Vernazza and Levanto at Monterosso	Southbay
California	Dos Palos	Lexington Park	Southbay
California	East Palmdale	Discovery Trails	North LA
California	East Palmdale	Vineyards	North LA
California	El Centro	Sienna Trails	San Diego
California	Fair Oaks	Gold River Station Unit 7	Sacramento
California	Fallbrook	Shady Grove	San Diego
California	Fillmore	The Meadows	North LA
California	Fontana	Bonita Ridge	Inland Valley
California	Fontana	Bonita Ridge II	Inland Valley
California	Fontana	Meadowood	Inland Valley
California	Fountain Valley	Tremont	Orange County
California	Fremont	Pacific Pointe Chaplin Series	Southbay
California	French Valley	Briggs Road	Riverside
California	Fresno	Maple Glen	Southbay
California	Fresno	Oakville Grove	Southbay
California	Fresno	Olive Lane	Southbay
California	Hemet	Autumn Ridge	Riverside
California	Hemet	Schaffer Extension	Riverside
California	Hesperia	Hesperia Belmont	Inland Valley
California	Hesperia	La Serena	Inland Valley
California	Hesperia	Lexington I	Inland Valley
California	Hollister	Valley View	Southbay
California	Imperial	Tesora	San Diego
California	Indio	Foxstone	Riverside
California	Irvine	Bougainvillea	Orange County
California	La Quinta	Palizada	Riverside
California	Lake Elsinore	Serenity	Riverside
California	Lancaster	Grandiflora	North LA
California	Lancaster	Heirloom Rose	North LA
California	Lancaster	Terreno Vista	North LA
California	Lancaster	Tierra Del Sol	North LA
California	Lathrop	Autumnwood	Central Valley
California	Lathrop	Autumnwood Crossing	Central Valley
California	Lathrop	Autumnwood Estates II	Central Valley
California	Lathrop	Clusters	Central Valley
California	Lathrop	Mosssdale II	Central Valley
California	Lathrop	Vallentyne	Central Valley
California	Lincoln	Lincoln Crossing	Sacramento
California	Live Oak	Pennington Ranch	Sacramento
California	Loma Linda	Mission Creek	Inland Valley
California	Los Banos	Meadow Glen & Meadow Vista	Southbay
California	Madera	Orchard Pointe	Central Valley
California	Menifee	Cimarron	Riverside
California	Mentone	Silver Springs I	Inland Valley
California	Mentone	Silver Springs II	Inland Valley
California	Merced	5 Bridges	Central Valley
California	Merced	Sierra Vista	Central Valley
California	Milpitas	Terra Serena	Southbay
California	Moorpark	Sterling Heights	North LA
California	Murrieta	Hunter Point	Riverside
California	Murrieta	Monticello I & II	Riverside
California	North Richmond	Bella Flora	Southbay
California	Oakley	Teal Cove @ Cypress Grove	Southbay
California	Oceanside	Taylor Estates	San Diego
California	Oceanside	Wilmont Ranch	San Diego
California	Olivehurst	Mapleton	Sacramento
California	Palmdale	Anaverde	North LA
California	Perris	May Ranch	Riverside
California	Pittsburg	Stanford Place I	Southbay
California	Placentia	Clementine	Orange County
California	Plumas Lake	Plumas Lakes	Sacramento

State	City or County	Site	Division
California	Rancho Cucamonga	Church and Haven	Inland Valley
California	Rancho Cucamonga	Sterling Heights	Inland Valley
California	Rancho Cucamonga	Woodside	Inland Valley
California	Reno	Calabria	Sacramento
California	Reno	Ravenna	Sacramento
California	Riverside	Alicante	Riverside
California	Riverside	Camden Place	Riverside
California	Riverside	Cimarron Ranch	Inland Valley
California	Riverside	La Rivera	Riverside
California	Riverside	La Sierra	Riverside
California	Riverside	Mockingbird Canyon	Riverside
California	Riverside	North Victorville Cambridge	Inland Valley
California	Riverside	Willow Ranch	Inland Valley
California	Roseville	Bella Terra at Fiddymont	Sacramento
California	Sacramento	Hampton Village	Sacramento
California	Sacramento	The Hamptons	Sacramento
California	San Diego	Skyline Hills	San Diego
California	San Diego	Vista Colina	San Diego
California	San Jacinto	The Cove	Riverside
California	San Jose	Autumn Terrace at William	Southbay
California	San Jose	Madison Place @ Monte Vista	Southbay
California	San Jose	Montclair Townhomes	Southbay
California	San Jose	Tuscany Hills	Southbay
California	Santa Clarita Valley	Canyon Country	North LA
California	Simi Valley	Casablanca	North LA
California	Stockton	Riverbend	Central Valley
California	Stockton	Springbrook	Central Valley
California	Sunnyvale	Evelyn Glen	Southbay
California	Sylmar	Cascades	North LA
California	Tehachapi	Orchard Glen	North LA
California	Temecula	Valdemosa	Riverside
California	Tustin	Madison in Columbus Grove	Orange County
California	Union City	Pacific Terrace	Southbay
California	Victorville	Creekside	Inland Valley
California	Victorville	Las Haciendas	Inland Valley
California	Victorville	Saratoga Lexington	Inland Valley
California	Victorville	Sedona Belmont	Inland Valley
California	Victorville	Somerset	Inland Valley
California	West Palmdale	Bella Vista	North LA
California	West Palmdale	Calico Terrace	North LA
California	West Sacramento	Bridgeway Island	Sacramento
California	Woodland	Woodshire	Sacramento
California	Yuba City	Walnut Park Estates	Sacramento
California	Yucaipa	Iris Gardens	Inland Valley
Colorado	Adams County	Brittany Ridge II	Colorado
Colorado	Adams County	Fronterra Village Subdivision	Colorado
Colorado	Adams County	Springvale Development	Colorado
Colorado	Aurora	Somerset Village	Colorado
Colorado	Centennial	Villages at Centennial	Colorado
Colorado	Colorado Springs	Bluffs at Spring Creek	Colorado
Colorado	Commerce City	River Oaks	Colorado
Colorado	Denver	First Creek	Colorado
Colorado	Denver	Parkfield	Colorado
Colorado	Denver	Parkfield II	Colorado
Colorado	Denver	Quincy Lake	Colorado
Colorado	Denver	Stapleton	Colorado
Colorado	Douglas County	Castlewood Ranch	Colorado
Colorado	Erie	Grandview	Colorado
Colorado	Fort Collins	Provincetowne	Colorado
Colorado	Golden	Canyon View	Colorado
Colorado	Lochbuie	Berkshire	Colorado
Colorado	Longmont	Harvest Junction	Colorado

State	City or County	Site	Division
Colorado	Longmont	Idaho Creek	Colorado
Colorado	Parker	Prairie Meadows	Colorado
Colorado	Westminster	Walnut Grove	Colorado
Florida	Apopka	Arbor Ridge	Orlando
Florida	Bradenton	Willowbrook	Tampa / FM
Florida	Brandon	Brussels Bay II	Tampa / FM
Florida	Brandon	Mirror Lake	Tampa / FM
Florida	Brandon	Northgate	Tampa / FM
Florida	Brandon	Stillwater	Tampa / FM
Florida	Brandon	The Gates	Tampa / FM
Florida	Cape Coral	Cape Coral	Tampa / FM
Florida	Clearwater	Sunset	Tampa / FM
Florida	Clermont	Southern Fields	Orlando
Florida	Dade City	Abbey Glen	Tampa / FM
Florida	Davenport	Bella Toscana	Orlando
Florida	Daytona Beach	Bayberry Lakes	Gold Coast
Florida	Deltona	Deltona	Gold Coast
Florida	Elkton	Cypress Lakes	Jacksonville
Florida	Fort Myers	Bayshore Commons	Tampa / FM
Florida	Fruit Cove	Millcreek Landing	Jacksonville
Florida	Jacksonville	Adams Lake III	Jacksonville
Florida	Jacksonville	Cedar Glen	Jacksonville
Florida	Jacksonville	Dunns Creek	Jacksonville
Florida	Jacksonville	Meadow Downs	Jacksonville
Florida	Jacksonville	Summer Lakes	Jacksonville
Florida	Kissimmee	Amber Pointe	Orlando
Florida	Kissimmee	Compass Bay	Orlando
Florida	Kissimmee	Crestwynd	Orlando
Florida	Kissimmee	Hammock Trails	Orlando
Florida	Kissimmee	Paradise Cay	Orlando
Florida	Lake Mary/Sanford	Sliverleaf	Orlando
Florida	Lakeland	Bridgewater	Orlando
Florida	Lakeland	Sundance III	Orlando
Florida	Lehigh Acres	Lehigh Acres Scattered Lots	Tampa / FM
Florida	Lehigh Acres	Town Lakes	Tampa / FM
Florida	Middleburg	Woodbridge	Jacksonville
Florida	Mt. Dora	Loch Leven	Orlando
Florida	New Port Richey	Monarch	Tampa / FM
Florida	New Port Richey	Viceroy	Tampa / FM
Florida	New Smyrna Beach	Isles of Sugar Mills	Gold Coast
Florida	New Smyrna Beach	Sugarmill Gardens	Gold Coast
Florida	New Smyrna Beach	Venetian Bay	Gold Coast
Florida	North Port	North Port	Tampa / FM
Florida	Orange County	Mable Bridge	Orlando
Florida	Orlando	Stratford Pointe	Orlando
Florida	Orlando	Timbercreek [Avalon Park]	Orlando
Florida	Ormond Beach	Deer Creek	Gold Coast
Florida	Oviedo	Copper Chase	Orlando
Florida	Palm Bay	Palm Bay	Orlando
Florida	Palm Coast	Avalon	Gold Coast
Florida	Palm Coast	Palm Coast	Gold Coast
Florida	Pasco County	Legends Point	Tampa / FM
Florida	Poinciana	Poinciana - Polk	Orlando
Florida	Ponte Vedra	Florentine	Jacksonville
Florida	Port St. Lucie	Pine Trace	Orlando
Florida	Port St. Lucie	Port St. Lucie	Orlando
Florida	Punta Gorda	Creekside	Tampa / FM
Florida	Punta Gorda	Deep Creek	Tampa / FM
Florida	Punta Gorda	Oak Harbour	Tampa / FM
Florida	Punta Gorda	Pembroke	Tampa / FM
Florida	Punta Gorda	Tortuga Reserve	Tampa / FM
Florida	Punta Gorda	Tuscany Isles	Tampa / FM



State	City or County	Site	Division
Florida	Punta Gorda	Vistanna Villas	Tampa / FM
Florida	Riverview	Magnolia Trails	Tampa / FM
Florida	Riverview	Moss Landing	Tampa / FM
Florida	Riverview	St. Charles	Tampa / FM
Florida	Ruskin	Blackstone	Tampa / FM
Florida	Ruskin	Harbour Isles	Tampa / FM
Florida	Sanford	The Preserve at Eagle Lake	Orlando
Florida	Sebastian	Sebastian Landing	Orlando
Florida	Seffner	Mango	Tampa / FM
Florida	Seminole County	Cameron Heights	Orlando
Florida	St. Augustine	Grand Cay	Jacksonville
Florida	St. Augustine	Samara Lakes	Jacksonville
Florida	St. Augustine	Serenity Bay	Jacksonville
Florida	St. Augustine	Tuscany Village	Jacksonville
Florida	St. Cloud	Blackstone	Orlando
Florida	St. Cloud	Mallard Pond	Orlando
Florida	St. Cloud	Stevens Plantation	Orlando
Florida	Tampa	Asbel Estates	Tampa / FM
Florida	Tampa	Freedom Ridge	Tampa / FM
Florida	Tampa	Grey Pines	Tampa / FM
Florida	Tampa	Palm River	Tampa / FM
Florida	Tampa	Sheldon Shores	Tampa / FM
Florida	Tampa	Tierra del Sol	Tampa / FM
Florida	Valrico	Wedgewood	Tampa / FM
Florida	Venice	Stoneybrook	Tampa / FM
Florida	Wesley Chapel	New River	Tampa / FM
Florida	Wesley Chapel	Watergrass	Tampa / FM
Florida	Windermere	Lake Burden	Orlando
Florida	Windermere	Sharp Property	Orlando
Florida	Windermere	The Vineyards	Orlando
Florida	Winter Garden	Black Lake	Orlando
Florida	Winter Garden	Cobblestone	Orlando
Florida	Winter Garden	Emerald Ridge	Orlando
Florida	Winter Garden	Orchard	Orlando
Florida	Winter Haven	Old Lake Lucerne	Orlando
Florida	Yulee	Timber Creek	Jacksonville
Florida	Yulee	Timber Creek II	Jacksonville
Florida	Yulee	Timber Creek III	Jacksonville
Georgia	Atlanta	Waterford	Atlanta
Georgia	Buford	Lanier Springs	Atlanta
Georgia	Canton	Magnolias	Atlanta
Georgia	Dallas	Cedarcrest	Atlanta
Georgia	Dekalb County	Redan Road	Atlanta
Georgia	Fairburn	Cedar Grove	Atlanta
Georgia	Fairburn	Hampton Oaks	Atlanta
Georgia	Grayson	Hawthorn Farms	Atlanta
Georgia	Lawrenceville	Sweetwater Crossing	Atlanta
Georgia	Lithia Springs	Groovers Lake	Atlanta
Georgia	Lithia Springs	Parkside	Atlanta
Georgia	Marietta	Briarfield	Atlanta
Georgia	Newnan	Heritage Ridge	Atlanta
Georgia	Smyrna	Oakdale Road	Atlanta
Georgia	Union City	Sable Glen	Atlanta
Georgia	Woodstock	Wynchase	Atlanta
Illinois	Aurora	Lincoln Prairie	Chicago
Illinois	Crystal Lake	Park Place at Crystal Lake	Chicago
Illinois	Inverness	Creekside - Inverness	Chicago
Illinois	Naperville	Tramore	Chicago
Illinois	Plainfield	Streams of Plainfield	Chicago
Illinois	Woodstock	Savanna Grove	Chicago
Indiana	Avon	Glenfield	Indiana
Indiana	Avon	Ian's Point	Indiana

State	City or County	Site	Division
Indiana	Camby	Heartland Crossing	Indiana
Indiana	Carmel	Ridge at Hayden Run	Indiana
Indiana	Fishers	Sand Creek Farms	Indiana
Indiana	Greenfield	Copeland Farms	Indiana
Indiana	Indianapolis	Autumn Creek East	Indiana
Indiana	Indianapolis	Autumn Glen	Indiana
Indiana	Indianapolis	Brookfield Place	Indiana
Indiana	Indianapolis	Cedar Park	Indiana
Indiana	Indianapolis	Cumberland Lakes V	Indiana
Indiana	Indianapolis	Raymond Park	Indiana
Indiana	Indianapolis	River's Edge Townhome	Indiana
Indiana	Lawrence	Lawrence Woods I	Indiana
Indiana	New Whiteland	Oakville IV	Indiana
Indiana	New Whiteland	Tracey Commons	Indiana
Indiana	Noblesville	Monarch Springs	Indiana
Indiana	Pittsboro	North Park	Indiana
Indiana	Plainfield	Glen Haven West	Indiana
Indiana	Westfield	Oak Ridge Crossing	Indiana
Indiana	Westfield	The Lakes of Towne Road	Indiana
Indiana	Zionsville	Cass Estates	Indiana
Maryland	Charles County	Middletown South	Mid-Atlantic
Maryland	Montgomery County	Whetstone	Mid-Atlantic
Maryland	Prince George's County	Broad Creek Hollow [Xander Property]	Mid-Atlantic
Maryland	Prince George's County	Cherry Tree Estates	Mid-Atlantic
Nevada	Henderson	Inspirada Village 1	Las Vegas
Nevada	Henderson	La Vita	Las Vegas
Nevada	Henderson	Mosaic	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Alturas	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Blue Diamond Springs	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Cambridge	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Chaco Canyon	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Desert Willows - 3B	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Duranto Village	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Gold Rush V(A)	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Huntington Villages/Villas [Huntington @ Rhodes Range Village A]	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Huntington Villas	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Ladera Summerlin [Ladera Phase 1]	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Manchester Park	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Mariposa Place	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Mayfield Estates	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Montecito	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Oxford Commons	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Parma Hills	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Quintessa	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Silver Hills	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Silverado Pines	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Sterling Ridge	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Sunset Ridge	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Sunset Ridge North	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Terracina III [Terracina/Terra Linda]	Las Vegas
Nevada	Las Vegas	Westwind Unit 2	Las Vegas
Nevada	Moapa Valley	Logandale	Las Vegas
Nevada	North Las Vegas	Amarillo	Las Vegas
Nevada	North Las Vegas	La Vellia @ Akiante	Las Vegas
Nevada	North Las Vegas	Sierra Ranch [Villages @ Sierra Ranch 1,2,4,5&6]	Las Vegas
New Mexico	Albuquerque	Anderson Heights	New Mexico
New Mexico	Albuquerque	Desert Pines II and III	New Mexico
New Mexico	Albuquerque	Menaul School	New Mexico
New Mexico	Albuquerque	Montecito	New Mexico
New Mexico	Albuquerque	Park Hill	New Mexico
New Mexico	Albuquerque	Vista Manzano	New Mexico
New Mexico	Rio Rancho	Northern Meadows	New Mexico

State	City or County	Site	Division
North Carolina	Cary	Amberly	Raleigh
North Carolina	Cary/Morrisville	Twin Lakes	Raleigh
North Carolina	Charlotte	Evanton	Charlotte
North Carolina	Charlotte	Hamilton Lakes	Charlotte
North Carolina	Charlotte	Harwood Landing	Charlotte
North Carolina	Charlotte	Kingstree I & II	Charlotte
North Carolina	Charlotte	Prosperity Ridge	Charlotte
North Carolina	Charlotte	Timberlands	Charlotte
North Carolina	Clayton	Cobblestone	Raleigh
North Carolina	Durham	Ravenstone	Raleigh
North Carolina	Durham	Ravenstone II	Raleigh
North Carolina	Durham	Ridgefield	Raleigh
North Carolina	Durham	Stonehill	Raleigh
North Carolina	Fuquay Varina	Park Grove	Raleigh
North Carolina	Garner	Bingham Station	Raleigh
North Carolina	Hillsborough	Kenion Grove	Raleigh
North Carolina	Mint Hill	Versage	Charlotte
North Carolina	Monroe	St. John's Forest	Charlotte
North Carolina	Mooresville	Waterlynn	Charlotte
North Carolina	Raleigh	Battle Ridge	Raleigh
North Carolina	Raleigh	Chastain	Raleigh
North Carolina	Raleigh	Eagle Ridge	Raleigh
North Carolina	Raleigh	Jamison's Run	Raleigh
North Carolina	Raleigh	Wynbrooke	Raleigh
North Carolina	Ranlo	Mountain View	Charlotte
South Carolina	Bluffton Park	Bluffton Park	South Carolina
South Carolina	Columbia	Indigo Springs	South Carolina
South Carolina	Columbia	Indigo Springs II	South Carolina
South Carolina	Columbia	Rivendale	South Carolina
South Carolina	Columbia	Sassafras Springs	South Carolina
South Carolina	Elgin	Spears Creek Village	South Carolina
South Carolina	Fort Mill	Catawba Village	Charlotte
South Carolina	Fort Mill	English Trails	Charlotte
South Carolina	Fort Mill	Madison Green	Charlotte
South Carolina	Hanahan	Eagle Bluff	South Carolina
South Carolina	Hanahan	Gardens at Tanner Plantation	South Carolina
South Carolina	Hanahan	Tanner Commons	South Carolina
South Carolina	Ladson	Eagle Run	South Carolina
South Carolina	Ladson	Eagle Run II	South Carolina
South Carolina	Lexington	Charter Oak Road	South Carolina
South Carolina	Lexington	Millstream	South Carolina
South Carolina	Lexington	Riverchase Way	South Carolina
South Carolina	Lexington	Settlers Pointe	South Carolina
South Carolina	Moncks Corner	Foxbank	South Carolina
South Carolina	North Charleston	Charleston Park	South Carolina
South Carolina	Summerville	Blackberry Creek	South Carolina
Texas	Austin	Circle C Ranch	Austin
Texas	Austin	Los Arboles	Austin
Texas	Austin	McKinney Heights	Austin
Texas	Austin	McKinney Meadows	Austin
Texas	Austin	Oak at Twin Creeks	Austin
Texas	Austin	Springfield	Austin
Texas	Balch Springs	Spring Ridge	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Boerne	Stage Run	San Antonio
Texas	Cedar Hill	Cedar Crest	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Cedar Hill	High Pointe East	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Cedar Park	Silverado	Austin
Texas	Cibolo	Spring Tree	San Antonio
Texas	Converse	Fields of Dover	San Antonio
Texas	Cypress	Cypress Ridge	Houston
Texas	Cypress	Westgate	Houston
Texas	Cypress	Cypress Springs	Houston

State	City or County	Site	Division
Texas	Cypress	Stablewood Farms	Houston
Texas	Dallas	College Terrace	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Dallas	Harbor Glen	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Dallas	Morada Ranch	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Dallas	Prairie Creek	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Dallas	St. Augustine Park Estates	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Dallas	Sunrise Creek	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Dallas	Sunset Point	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Dallas	Trinity Forest	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Dallas	Woodberry Creek	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	De Soto	Summer Meadows	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Del Valle	Berdoll Farms	Austin
Texas	Del Valle	Meadows at Berdoll	Austin
Texas	Edinburg	Los Lagos	Rio Grande Valley
Texas	Edinburg	Los Lagos IV	Rio Grande Valley
Texas	Edinburg	Sugarland Estates	Rio Grande Valley
Texas	Eules	Midway Square	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Fort Worth	Amber Trails	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Fort Worth	Caballito Del Mar	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Fort Worth	Hidden Meadows	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Fort Worth	Rolling Hills	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Fort Worth	Trail Lake Estates	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Fort Worth	Weldon Meadows	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Georgetown	Terraces at Woodlake	Austin
Texas	Georgetown	University Park	Austin
Texas	Grand Prairie	Lake Park	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Grand Prairie	Monterrey Park	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Haltom City	Spring Lake	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Houston	Autumn Glen	Houston
Texas	Houston	Crescent Park Village	Houston
Texas	Houston	Enclave at Bridgewater I	Houston
Texas	Houston	Fairway Villas	Houston
Texas	Houston	Forest Ridge	Houston
Texas	Houston	Legends Run	Houston
Texas	Houston	Remington Ranch	Houston
Texas	Houston	Sierra Vista	Houston
Texas	Houston	Sky View Park	Houston
Texas	Houston	Twin Lakes	Houston
Texas	Houston	Westgreen	Houston
Texas	Houston	Willow Springs	Houston
Texas	Humble	Kenswick	Houston
Texas	Humble	Liberty Lakes	Houston
Texas	Katy	Woodcreek Reserve	Houston
Texas	Kyle	Waterleaf	Austin
Texas	League City	Bay Colony	Houston
Texas	League City	Leisure Lakes	Houston
Texas	Leander	Westwood	Austin
Texas	Live Oak	Woodcrest [Woodcrest Unit 12A/12B]	San Antonio
Texas	McAllen	Meadow Ridge	Rio Grande Valley
Texas	McAllen	Northgate	Rio Grande Valley
Texas	McKinney	Harvest Bend	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Pasadena	Deer Creek I	Houston
Texas	Pflugerville	Greenridge	Austin
Texas	Pflugerville	Meadow Park	Austin
Texas	Pflugerville	Northtown	Austin
Texas	Pflugerville	Spring Trails	Austin
Texas	Pharr	Woodcrest/El Dorado Estates	Rio Grande Valley
Texas	Plano	Oakpoint	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Red Oak	Quail Run	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Round Rock	Chisholm Crossing	Austin
Texas	San Antonio	Cambridge	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Cobblestone	San Antonio

State	City or County	Site	Division
Texas	San Antonio	Falcon Heights	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Fox Grove	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Fox Grove II	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Greenway Terrace	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Herff Ranch	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Heritage Park	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Highland Park	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Hunt Crossing	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Iron Mountain Ranch	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Meadows of Bridgwood	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Mesa Creek	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Mystic Park	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Quarry at Iron Mountain	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Raintree Subdivision Unit 8	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Retreat at Ingram Hills	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Saddle Mountain (Oakstone)	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Spring Tree IV and V	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Sundance	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Sunset Unit 3	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	The Links at Scenic Hills	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Triana	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Walzen Farm (Rosewood)	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Woods of Alon	San Antonio
Texas	San Antonio	Zarzamora	San Antonio
Texas	San Marcos	El Camino Real	Austin
Texas	Spring	Springbrook	Houston
Texas	Taylor	Summerfield	Austin
Texas	Temple	Sage Meadows	Austin
Texas	Temple	Village of Sage Meadows	Austin
Texas	The Colony	Cascades	Dallas-Fort Worth
Texas	Tomball	Lakewood Place	Houston
Texas	Tomball	Northern Point	Houston
Texas	Watauga	Parkside Estates	Dallas-Fort Worth
Virginia	Fairfax County	Huntington Mews	Mid-Atlantic
Virginia	Fairfax County	Townes at Madison Lane	Mid-Atlantic
Virginia	Loudoun County	Martin's Chase	Mid-Atlantic
Wisconsin	Kenosha	Tyler's Ridge	Chicago

Total Number of Sites = 532